Devon River Avon
Synopsis

The document describes a virtual journey along the Devon River Avon, beginning at its source, the perspective
is as much historical as descriptive of the current scene. There are no significant tributaries, but a few features
of interest on the minor tributaries are recorded, and aspects of the whole river catchment are considered.
Particular attention is given to bridges and watermills because of their intimate associations with the river, but
nearby prominent buildings, both religious and secular, are also described briefly. The bridges are a particular
feature of the catchment, the survival of a surprising number built before 1700, can probably be put down mainly
to the robustness of structures made of granite andslate. The t er m oO6virtual journeyo is
descriptions of places, which have been visited, linked not by accounts of walks along the river banks, but by

information gathered from desk top surveys.

As regards watermills, Alastair Robertsonés Appendi x cc
commercial watermills* and farm mills*, which operated after 1750, in the catchment and wherever possible

their functions are noted.

* a commercial watermill is paid by customers to process raw materials like grain or wool, a farm mill is a

machine located on a farm, which operates at the behest of the farmer, normally without money changing hands.

| provide no formal contents list, nor an index but the following information about where a few items and features

appear is intended to aid navigation through the document.
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Devon River Avon

The Devon River Avon, also known as the
River Aune, rises at Avonhead in the
Avonhead Mires, a boggy area in South
Dartmoor. The source is marked at OS Grid
Point SX 650 696, just above the 460m
contour; the nearest settlement s
Hexworthy, 3km to the north. | do not know if
this is the start-point for the river, in all
weather conditions, and it would perhaps be
foolhardy for anyone to venture onto the bog

to check, in any but dry conditions. A close
approach may be possible from a track, Sandy Path, north of the Grid Point, but it is as likely that the photograph

taken a kilometre to its south, by a Mr. Wareham, represents an earliest practicable sighting of the stream.
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and moss exist, as in the mires at the source
of the River Avon. Exposure to strong winds
means that few trees grow, and those that do

are stunted, even in river valleys; the harsh environment means that little of the National Park is farmed.

Rivers flow off the moor in most directions, though none is very long or large, as regards flowrate; one such is
the River Avon, which flows southwards from the south-east edge of the moor. There are many signs of Bronze
Age activity dating to c2000 BC on the moors, through which the River Avon passes first south, then south-east
from its source; these include hut circles, and walled encampments, so people lived there, benefitting from a
warmer climatic phase. The later Bronze Age and Iron Age saw a retreat from Dartmoor, with only a few hillforts
at the edges remaining, and the Romans have left few traces. For more than 3500 years up to the present, the

moors were an area, which had to be crossed sometimes, hence the tracks, fords, and primitive bridges, but



few settlements were established. Now, many people visit the moors, but they view the scenery from a limited

number of roads, or hike between camp-sites.

The course of the River Avon is shown in the
sketch-map in Al astair Rl

Appendix; the small stream flows south for

3%km to arrive at a ford, (now alongside a .-ﬁ:?‘:
new clapper bridge). A track of medieval
origins crosses here;the Ab b ot 0 linketlVa
Tavistock Abbey, 20km to the north-west,
and Buckfast Abbey, 7¥%km to the east,
beside the River Erme; it was a packhorse
trail, along which sheep fleeces were taken,
as part of the trade in wool, but was used
also by other traders and pedlars, who
wished to cross the moor. Nearby is
Hunt i ngssndanm high, and shown in the photograph, which is probably one of 4 boundary markers
erected in the 16™ century by Sir William Petre. After the suppression of Buckfast Abbey in 1539, he purchased

a swathe of moorland, previously owned by the abbey, and added it to his Brent Manor. Estate.

It is possible that Petre utilised a cross which had been raised some years earlier, fitting a Dartmoor legend.
Allegedly, the Abbot of Buckfast® absence prompted 4 monks out of the dozen resident there, to indulge in
unspecified orgies. They paid for their dissolute activities, by selling abbey treasures. Realising the likely dire
consequences, they made a plan to waylay the recipient of the said treasures, a Jewish moneylender, who
fortunately for them, had set off across the moors. They caught him near the site of Huntingdon Cross, murdered
him, and killed his horse, submerging both corpses in the bog, just off the track, before making off with the gold,
which the moneylender had been carrying. The monks then boughtb ac k t h e a bhthesepydhepingto | v er
escape retribution. However, on the next night, a ghostly hooded figure arrived at the abbey, and compelled the
monks to accompany him; he led them back to the scene of their crime, and discovery led them to plunge into
the bog and drown. When the abbot returned to Buckfast Abbey, he found that four monks were missing, and
when the bodies were discovered, he raised the cross to commemorate them. Like most legends a far-fetched

tale, but possibly based on a real event.

By this point the River Avon has descended
100m from its source and is flowing in a fairly
steep-sided valley, towards the Avon Dam
Reservoir, created in 1957 by damming the
river, An aerial view of the reservoir which
spreads over 20ha, is shown alongside. The
river can be seen winding its way from the
top right of the photograph, and the curved

concrete dam is in the lower left. Water from




here supplies the South Hams district of
Devon. The river is reconstituted as the
outflow from the dam, and continues to
descend fairly rapidly, flowing on a rocky bed
through rapids and small waterfalls.
Whereas immediately below the dam there
was only an occasional small twisted tree, a
little further on, both banks are lined with
trees, some neither small, nor twisted, and
the valley is a little wider. After flowing for
2%5km from the reservoir, and dropping
another 100m, the stream is crossed by

Shipley Bridge, shown in the photograph.

Though the bridge is narrow, perhaps just

under 3m wide, it has been substantially widened, by a factor of around 2, so it probably began life as a
packhorse bridge, maybe 1.4m wide. It is built of stone rubble, and the nearly semi-circular arch rests on 2 flush
arch rings, made of shaped but undressed voussoirs. It is Listed and has been dated to the 18" century, with
the widening a century later. If it had been widened in the 19" century, it seems likely that more would have
been added, so | would push that operation back to the 18™ century, and the building of the original bridge back
to ¢1700, which does not, | think conflict with its appearance, but | would stress that dating of such bridges is
extremely difficult. The photograph also shows that the River Avon, which has picked up water from a few small
tributaries in its progress so far, has become a substantial stream. Nowadays, Shipley Bridge gives access to

a car park, from where people can walk up the picturesque valley to the reservoir.

Immediately to the west of the carpark,
there are remnants of buildings associated
with failed industrial enterprises. The first,
which began operations in 1847, was
aimed at making charcoal and distilling
naphthalene from peat. As regards peat
charcoal, the process, bore some
resemblance to that used to make charcoal
from wood, by combustion with a limited air

supply; apparently the Vikings had smelted

iron using peat charcoal a thousand years
previously. Burning of peat in this way generates naphthalene, amongst other toxic gases, so collection and
distillation of off-gases was presumably expected to yield saleable quantities of that by-product. Peat was
extracted beside the source of a small right bank tributary of the River Avon, the Bala Brook, and Zeal Tor
Tramway was built to allow easy horse-drawn transport of the peat to the processing plant at Shipley Bridge.
Traces of the track bed still survive, as shown in the photograph. Clearly, the charcoal and naphthalene project

had required considerable investment, but the business quickly proved unviable and it was wound up within



three years. However, the plant buildings at Shipley Bridge, and probably Zeal Tor Tramway, were put to a

different use, not long afterwards.

It has already been noted that much of Dartmoor rests upon granite rock. China clay is formed from granite,
when feldspar crystals transform to kaolin, a fine white clay, leaving the other main granite constituents, quartz
and mica, unchanged. The process takes place over geological time scales and for some reason only affected
granite in some parts of Devon and Cornwall. In these regions, granite does not manifest itself as a hard rock
but as a gravel-like deposit of quartz sand mixed with mica and China clay. The production of China clay is more
associated with Cornwall, and especially with St. Austell, but there are also substantial deposits in Devon. The
main centre of mining operations in Devon, was and is at Lee Moor, 10km west of Shipley Bridge, but deposits
were found at Petre® Pit, 11km to the north-west of Shipley Bridge, and close to Zeal Tor Tramway. The name

came from another moorland marker, Petre& cross associated with the 16" century landowner.

A first attempt to exploit the resource was
made soon after the closure of the peat
charcoal enterprise. A pipeline was built to
convey the extracted mineral in a slurry to
the Shipley Bridge plant, which was
reconfigured to process China clay. This
involved building a succession of settling
tanks, into which the slurry would be fed, to

separate out accompanying detritus, quartz,

and mica to leave only the China clay in the
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to produce an end-product, powdered China clay, which could be bagged ready for transport to manufacturers
of pottery in England and abroad. This was probably the Achilles Heel of the enterprise, which began operations
in 1858, because a very bulky product had to be moved south along poor roads to South Brent to reach the
railway, which had opened in 1848. At any rate operations soon ceased; another attempt was made to exploit
the deposits in 1872, without success. A final failure occurred in the 1920s, and since then the plant at Shipley
Bridge has decayed leaving only remnants, like those of a settling tank shown in the screenshot, taken from the

very informative website, https://historicengland.org.uk/research/results/reports/8344/ShipleyBridgeChina-

ClayWorksSouthBrentDevon.

The landscape changes quite abruptly here, as fields, some arable, more of pasture, replace the moorland,
above both banks of the stream, which has fallen below the 200m contour. The surrounding land is at this point
below 300m, so whatever the limitations imposed by poor soil and a wet climate, farming has been viable. A
hamlet called Didworthy is a further kilometre downstream, the first settlement encountered, comprising a few
modern houses; it need not detain us, nor need the next, Lutton. The river is approaching the village of South
Brent, but before getting there, reaches Crackhills, the first of 5 watermill sites lining the banks of the River Avon
between there and the Brent or Manor Mill site just south of the village. The latter was probably the earliest to

be occupied, since a flour mill was built in the 13t century by the Lord of the Manor. Like most of these mills, its
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use changed during its lifetime, as it was a flock mill, producing patterned fabric, and then a paper mill, for a
considerable period before its closure in ,wéseof 3068 006s .
Brent church, and beside the Lydia Bridge, are known to have been occupied by at least 1580; the former as a

fulling (cloth-conditioning) mi | | and the |l atter for grinding corn. Ly
shop and forge, and is now a house well concealed by trees, while the site at Millswood housed a leather mill

and then a flour mill before becoming an engineering factory early in the 20th century; aeroplane parts were

made there, during the Second World War, but it was mostly destroyed by fire in 1948. Town Mill was beside

the railway bridges adjoining the Vicarage field, in the north of the village, and was first recorded as a cloth mill

in the 18™ century, but later became a corn mill, which was still operating in 1907. The Crackhills Mill, began its

life as a flour mill but later became one of the principal sail canvas mills that supplied the Devon shipbuilding

industry until the advent of steam-driven vessels ended demand. It has since been used to crush stone, and

has recently been restored to generate electricity.

Beside the Lydia Mill, site, the River Avon

passes under Lydia Bridge, which carries

a minor road, and is shown in the
photograph. The similarities to Shipley f
Bridge are obvious, though the masonry is
neater. The original bridge is often
described as a packhorse bridge, which
was widened at the upstream face to 2.7m,
from the original 1.8m; the divide is clearly
visible in the soffits. The downstream face
of the semi- circular arch which spans
6.3m has flush double arch rings below a
narrow string course, and the fabric is
rubble. The setting above a narrow steep gorge is picturesque; the view upstream of the bridge is of the river
rushing down a series of cascades, to reach the calm of the pool shown, above which a swing is suspended.
The bridge is the subject of a document of 1669, which refers to its poor condition. The most likely scenario is

that it was built earlier in the 17t century, and repaired later; its appearance is consistent with that.

The River Avon has arrived at South Brent
where there is another interesting old bridge,
though it is not easily viewed other than from
the carriageway. The only useful photograph
I have found, dating from the 1940s shows
some of the downstream features referred to

in the text. Unusually, the roadside refuge is

not aligned with the large cutwater. Brent Mill
Bridge is just off the B3372. The fabric is granite rubble, with dressed stone in the voussoirs. There is a larger
main arch with a flood arch to the west, and both are segmental, with single recessed arch rings on the

downstream, unaltered, face. The bridge length is estimated to be 14.5m; if this is correct the larger arch spans
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almost 8m. Estimates of its build-date are as far back as the 16™ century, and it was widened on the north,

upstream face, probably in the 18 century, to the present 3.9m, but | do not know by how much.

When the Domesday Book was compiled in
1086, the manor of 0
belonging to the Abbot of Buckfast, a
situation which lasted until the Dissolution in
1539. The settlement was recorded as
having a church and only 7 houses in 1247,
albeit that the manor as a whole was
prospering, largely as a result of the
husbandry of sheep and the processing of
wool. It is probable that the tin industry

supplemented the local economy in

medieval (and later) times, as there is
evidence of din streamingdin the area. Signs of these early activities are heaps of rubble and waste on the
riverbanks, long since overgrown by grasses and bilberries. By 1350 South Brent had grown enough to hold a
3-day annual fair, for which Buckfast Abbey had obtained a charter. However, the village never achieved burgh

status, because of the presence of larger townships nearby, especially Totnes, 10km to the east.

Nonetheless, the village prospered over a long period, not least because of the watermills, already discussed.

Its economy was also aided by its location on the packhorse route, between Exeter and Plymouth, and when

the road was turnpiked in the 18" century, the village acquired hostelries and stables. The coming of the railway

in 1848, was beneficial as the village became a goods junction, and later the mainline junction for the branch

linet o Ki ngsbr i dgéowewer inthtee 1280t0bscent ury South Brentods sig
commercial centre decreased, while its position on the main rail and road networks disappeared. The market

ceased to functionint he early 19006s, t he s tcenstructiam ofthke pesy &2B inithe 1 9 6 4
1 9 7 Pby-passed the settlement completely, though at least congestion was eased. South Brent remains a

hub of its locality, with shops, a few hostelries, a primary school, and other amenities, serving a population of

¢3000 residents. There are few buildings dating from before the 19t century, but the late-18™ century Old Toll

House, with its bellcote is prominent in the street view near the village centre.

The parish church of St. Petroc, shown in the
photograph, is close to the left bank of the
River Avon, in the north of the village. It
probably stands on the site of an early post-
Roman church of the 6" century. A later
Saxon church was built, and it is thought that
elements of its crossing tower survive in the

12t century west tower of the present

church, just visible beside the tree on the left.

Most of the church was rebuilt in




Perpendicular style in the 14 century, though the aisles date from the 15" century. The walls are buttressed
all round the building. There has been considerable 19" century restoration and internal roofs and windows date
to then, but the medieval ambience has not been wholly destroyed. A manor house is on the south side of a
large graveyard, and although much altered it is said by the Listing to contain elements dating to the 16t century,

my own view of it was from some distance, so | cannot add to that.

From South Brent, the River Avon travels
first south, to Turtley watermill, which once
ground corn, but is now a hotel; the mill took
its water, by way of a lade, from a small right
bank tributary, the Glaze Brook, but returned
it to the River Avon. The little stream is worth
a detour; in its short west to east course, the

Glaze Brook is crossed by no less than 3

Listed bridges, at Owley, Pennaton, and
Glazebrook. All were built of granite in the 19t century, each had a single segmental arch, but in truth there is
not much more to say about slightly mundane structures. The same applies to the brick 7-arched viaduct, built
in 1892, and carrying the main railway line between Exeter and Plymouth. However, beside it are two stone
piers, survivors from a wooden trestle viaduct, which was one of 7 built in 1848, by I. K. Brunel on the route of
the South Devon Railway between Totnes and Plymouth. | can find no illustration of this particular viaduct, but

to give an idea of the concept, | show a model of such a bridge displayed at Pendon Museum in Oxfordshire.

Next, the River Avon swings east, flowing
just over 3km, to reach the village of
Avonwick. Though small, there is new
housing, so it has grown in recent year; there
was a railway station, some distance south
of the village centre, on the branch to
Kingsbridge opened by the Great Western
railway in 1893, but the station closed in the
early 1960s. Avonwick Old Bridge is also
known as Horsebrook Bridge; the bridge
carries a minor road over the River Avon.
The single semi-circular, rubble-built arch
has features much like those on bridges
upstream, and has a span of 8.1m; there are
double flush arch rings on the older face,
shown in the photograph. The bridge which
has a pronounced hump was originally 1.5m
wide, but that dimension was increased by
50% to 2.25m; the two faces differ, with

single arch rings on the newer face, but a coating disguises any sign of a junction on the underside. An expert
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on these matters, Edwin Jervoise referred to two bridges in the village, the new bridge, which is known to have
existed by the early years of the 19th century, and this, the old bridge. | believe that the latter will have been
widened before the former was built, i.e., in the 18™ century, and assume that it dates to late in the 17th century.
My visit to view this and other Devon bridges was in late summer and | learned that this was bad timing for two
reasons; firstly, because foliage is at its thickest then, and secondly, because the narrow roads with passing
places, which | ead to many of De vieamétimesmdt Haekrto nyrhatelliges ar
the evening, imagining that | had spent more time reversing than going forwards! Before moving on, | should

mention Cobbly Lane, a track which runs alongside the River Avon, and is said to be 400 years old.

Moving downstream, the next settlement is
the hamlet of Diptford on a hill above the left
bank, which gives prominence to a steepled
church, mainly of the 14% century, but
subjected to a Victorian restoration. Here,
the 19t century maps show a clam bridge
crossing the River Avon, the name for a
wooden footbridge in and around Dartmoor,
though in the north, the term is applied to a
form of stone clapper bridge. A mill here has
been converted to a dwelling with an
attached holiday cottage. A short distance
further brings the River Avon to Bickham Bridge, shown in the photograph. The bridge is built of coursed slate
rubble with particularly distinctive parapets topped with vertically arrayed slates. There are 2 segmental arches,
each 3.75m in span, separated by large cutwaters upstream and downstream, which rise to provide refuges in
the carriageway. That carriageway is 3.4m wide, and does not appear to have been widened. Returning to the
arches, they have arch rings, recessed beneath hood-moulds, and are made up of dressed voussoirs, which
vary in shape. Some experts suggest that the bridge dates to the early 16" century, but it may have been built
up to a century later. It can be noted that we have already encountered 5 bridges, which probably date to before

1700, and there are more to come; this makes the River Avon an uncommon diot spotéfor old bridges.

Butterford cornmill was a short distance further downstream on the right bank, but it was actually powered by
water brought from a small un-named right bank tributary; it also is now a residence. Trees line the river banks
in this part of its course, sometimes spreading out into more extensive woods, but the main part of the landscape
is a patchwork of fields, mainly pastoral, though there are corn fields, but probably fewer than in the past. When
the river has flowed c5%km from Avonwick, it reaches another old bridge, Gara Bridge, carrying a minor road.
There was a cornmill in the hamlet here, fed by a lade, and shown on 19" century maps; apparently an
Archimedes Screw was installed recently on the site to produce electricity, for another residential conversion.
Gara Bridge railway station, on the Kingsbridge Branch line, cannot have had much custom given the small
population nearby, but it remained open for as long as the line, between 1893 and its closure in 1963. There
was only a single track and the one passing loop was at Gara Bridge. The line ran very close to the River Avon
for most of its length, but though earthworks and masonry can still be seen there are no spectacular survivals,

though a few well-constructed railway bridges over the river still stand. Returning to the road bridge, mentioned
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